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COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Plaintiff” or “Commission”) alleges for
its Complaint as follows:

SUMMARY

1. Comverse Technology, Inc. (“Comverse” or the “Company’’) engaged in two
separate fraudulent schemes, during the course of more than a decade, to materially misstate its
financial condition and performance metrics. The first scheme involved improper backdaﬁng of
Comverse stock optio_ﬁs. The second scheme involved improper accounting practices, including
(i) the improper establishment, maintenance, and release of reserves, (ii) the improper
reclassification of certain expenses, and (iii) the improper calculation of its backlog of sales
orders.

2. From approximately 1991 through 2001, three former Comverse senior executives
foutiuely backdated grants of stbck df)ﬁons made to the Company’s employees, officers and
others, to coinéide with historically low closing prices for the Company’s common stock. These
| options wcre_“in-the-money,” meaning the exercise price of the backdated Comverse options
were less than the Company’s stock price on the date ;he grants were formally approved by
Comverse’s Compensation Commiittee (the “Committee”). Additionally, as part of this scheme,

Comverse utilized grants to fictitious employeés and other means to establish an illegal pool of



options thereby creating a slush fund of “in-the-money” stock options to later use in
circumvention of the approved stock option grant process.

3. Overall, between 1991 and 2001, Comverse distributed options from at least 26
backdated option grants to, among others, its employees, employee-directors, and to employees
of its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, Ulticom, Inc. (“Ulticom™) and Verint Systems Inc.
(“Verint”), until those entities became separate, publicly-t;aded companies. Six out of seven
- company-wide grants made by Comverse during the relevant period were granted at or ﬁear the

lowest stock price for the fiscal quarter or year.

4. The backdating scheme allowed Comverse to award employees disguised in-the-
money options without recording a corresponding non-cash compensation expense for the in-
tﬁe-money portion of the option grant in confonnity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting
Pn'ncipies (“GAAP”). As aresult, Comverse (i) filed materially false and nﬁsleading financial
statements that materially understated its compensation expenses and materially overstated its
reported net inpome and earnings per share (“EPS”) through the fiscal year ended January 31,

2005, and (ii) made disclosures in certain periodic filings, proxy statements, and other filings
during this time that falsely portrayed Comverse’s options as having been granted at exercise
prices equal to the fair market value of Comverse’s common stock on the date of the grant.

5. Comverse’s second fraudulent scheme spanned from at least 1996 to 2002, and
involved several improper earnings management practices that were not in conformity with -
GAAP. Comverse improperly Built up, and subsequently improperly released, certain reserves to-
meet earnings targets, improperly reclassified certain expenses to manipulate other performance
metrics, and made false disclosures about its backlog of sales orders. As a result of this improper

cbnduct, Comverse was able to portray itself as a company with steady, but measured growth,



which regularly met analysts’ eanﬁngs targets. This misconduct caused Comverse to make
misstatements of material fact as to its operating income, net income, liabilities,-cost of goods
sold, research and development expense, and sales order backlog.

6. Comverse has announced that it will restate its .historical financial statements for
its fiscal years ended December 31, 1991 (“Fisg:al Year 1991”) through the period ended October
31, 2005, in order to record additioﬁal material non-cash charges for option-related compensation
expenses and to correct the material misstatement of its earnings.

7. By engaging in the foregoing conduct, Comverse violated the anti-fraud, reporting,
books and record, and internal conﬁols provisions of the federal securities laws. Specifically,
Comverse violated Section i?(a) of the Securitie_s Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §
77q(a)], Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 14(;1) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(2)(B) and
78n(a)] and Exchange Act Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13 and 14a-9 [17 C.F.R. §§
240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, 240.132-13, and 240.142-9]. An injunctionis
necessary to ensure that Comverse will not continue to violate the foregoing provisions of the
fe.deral securities laws.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. The Court has jurisdictioﬁ over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) of the
Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e), and 78aal.

9. Defendant Comverse, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities
of interstate commerce, br of the mails, or the facilities of a national securities exchange in

connection with the transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged herein.



10.  Venue is proper in this District because Comverse was headquartered and/or
‘maintained an office in Woodbury, New York during the relevant time period, and certain of the
acts, transactions, practices, and courses of business alleged herein took place in the Eastern
District of New York.

DEFENDANT

11. Defendant Comverse Technology, Inc., a New York corporation that was
based in"Woodbury, New York and is-_now headquartered iﬁ New York City, makes software
systems and provides related services for multimedia communication and information procéssing
applications. During the relevant time period, the Company had five operating subsidiaries:
| Comversé Network Systems (“CNS”), Verint, Ulticom, Starhome, B.V., and Startel
Corpﬁration, two of which (Ulticom and Verint) were wholly owned (and are now
majority-owned public) subsidiaries. Comverse’s common stock was registered with the
Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchaﬁge Act, apd traded on the NASDAQ
National Market. Because it failed to timely file its 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K and 2006
Quarterly Reports on Forms 10-Q, Com;!erse’s stock was suspended from trading on NASDAQ
effective F ebruary 1, 2007, and delisted on June 4, 2007. Currently, Comverse’s stock is
registered with tile Commission pursuant to Section 12 (g) of the Exchange Act and is quoted on
| the “Pink Sheets.”

| OTHER RELEVANT PERSONS AND ENTITIES

12.  Ulticom, Inc., is a New Jersey corporation based in Mount Laurel, New Jersey,
that pfovides service-enabling signaling software for fixed, mobile, and internet
communications. Ulticom was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Comverse until its IPO i April
2000; it i1as been a majority-owned subsidiary of Comverse since April 2000. Ulticom’s

common stock was registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange
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Act and traded on the NASDAQ Global Market. Trading in Ulticom stock was suspended on
February 1, 2007, and the stock was eventually delisted, due to Ulticom’s failure to file timely its
fiscal 2005 annual report on Form 10-K and fiscal 2006 quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q.
Ulticom has not filed peﬁodic reports on Forms 10-K or 10-Q with the Commission since‘
December 2005. Currently Ulticom’s stock is registered with the Commission pursuani to
Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and is quoted on the “Pink Sheets” under the symbol
“ULCM” or “ULCM.PK.”

13. Verint Systems Inc., is a Delaware corporation based in Melville, New York.
Verint acts through nineteen operating subsidiaries énd provides analytic software-based
solutions for the security and business intelligence markets. Verint (formerly Comverse Infosys,
Inc.) was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Comverse until its IPO in Me;y 2002; it has been a
majority-owned subsidiary of Comverse since May 2002. Its common stock was registered with
the Commission pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and traded on the NASDAQ
Global Market. Trading in Verint stock was suspended on February 1, 2007, and the stock was
eventually delisted, due to Verint’s failure to file timely its fiscal 2005.annual repoﬁ on Form 10-
K and fiscal 2006 quarterly reports on Forms 10-Q. Verint has not filed periodic reports on
Forms 10-K or 10-Q with the Commission since December 2005. Currently, Verint’s st_dck is
registered with the Commission pursﬁant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and is quoted on
the “Pink Sheets” under the symbol “VRNT” or “VRNT.PK.”

FACTS'

A. Comverse’s Stock Options Backdating Scheme

14. Between 1991 and 2002, two, and then three, former Comverse senior

executives backdated its stock option grants to award employees disguised in-the-money



options without recording a corresponding non-cash compensation expénse for the in-the-money
portion of the option grant in conformity with GAAP.

15. Asaresult, Comverse filed materially false and misléading financial statements
that inate’rially understated its compensation expenses al.ld materially overstated its reported net
income and EPS through the fiscal year ended J anuary_Bl, 2005. The Company also made
disclosures iﬁ certain periodic filings and proxy statements during this time that falsély portrayed
Comverse’s options as having been granted at exercise prices equal to the fair n.lark.et value of
Comuverse’s common stock on the date of the grant.

1. Comverse’s Stock Option Plans and Bylaws

16. From at least 1991 through 2002, Comverse had nine stock option plans that
permitted the Company to. issue stock options to its employees and directors and. to those of its
various subsidiaries and affiliates, such as Ulticom and Verint. Each option gave the grantee
the right to be one share of Comverse common stock .frorn the Company at a set price, called
the “exercise” or “strike” price, ﬁn a future date after the option vested. The option was “in-
the-money” whenever the trading price of Comverse’s common stock exceeded the option’s
exercise price. The option was “at-the-money” whenever the trading price of Comverse’s
common stock and the exercise price were the same. The option was “underwater” or “out-
of-the-money” whenéver_ the trading price of Comverse’s common stock was less than the
exerc.isé price. Throughdut the relevant peﬁod, Comverse represented that its option grants
were made at fair market value, i.e., as generally defined by the planS, to be the closing trading
price of Comverse common stock on the date of grant.

~ 17.  The primary purpose of issuing Company stock options was to attract and retain

employees and directors at Comverse and its subsidiaries:



18.  Pursuant to the plans, Comverse’s Compensation Committee (the “Committee”),

which typically was composed of three members during the relevant time period, had full power
‘to interpret and administer the plans and full authority (i) to select the specific employees to
whom options would be granted under the plans; (ii) to determine the type and amount of the
options to be granted such employees; and (iii) to determine the terms of- the option
agreements to be entered into with such employees.

19. Comverse’s bylaws stated that the Committee could formally act upon stock
option grant propo.sals in two ways. The Committee could act either by holding a meeting at
which a quorum of Committee members was present, if a majority of those present approved the
action; or without a formal meeting if all members of the Coﬁunittee signed and consented in
writing to the adoption of a resolution authorizing the action (otherwise known as a “unanimous
written consent;’).

20.  Options granted to Comverse employees and to employee-directors could be

structured as either “incentive options” (defined by Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code) or

“non-qualified options” (defined as any option that is ﬁot an incentive option), each with
different tax implications for the grantee and the Company. Non-emplqyee_-directors and
- employees of Comverse’s affiliates could receive only non-qualified options.

21.  Under the plans, the Committee was responsible for determining the exercise
price of each option grant, within certain limitations. Incentive stock options could not have an
exercise price less than the fair market value of a share of Comverse common stock “on the date
of grant.” The plans gave the Committee greater latitude in determining the exercise price of
non-qualified options and options granted to foreign nationals and others employed outside the

United States. Nevertheless, the Committee intended to grant all stock options that are the
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subject of this Complaint at fair market value, irrespective of whether the options were incentive
or non-qualified.

22. If a grantee was terminated for reasons other tﬁan death, disability, or
retirement, all unexercised vested options terminated on the earlier of 90 days from the
date of termination or on the date specified in the employee’s option agreement. The shares
underlying the terminated option reverted to the pool of options available for future ;Lwards
under the plan. Options that reverted to the pool, however, could not be awarded to others
without Committee approval.

23.  For the vast majority of option grants Comverse made during 1991 tﬁrough
2001, the Committee actgd through unanimous written consents, not through formal meetings of

Committee members.

2. Accounting for Options in Conformitv'with GAAP

24.  Throughout the relevant time period, Comverse accounted for stock options
using the intrinsic value method described in Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”). Under APB 25, employers were
required to record as an expense on their financial statements the “intrinsic value” of a fixed
stock option on its “measurement date.” The measurement date, as defined by APB 25, is the
first date on which the following information is known: (i) the number of options that an
individual employee is entitled to receive and (ii) the exercise price. An option that is in-the-
money on the measurement date has intrinsic value, and the difference between its exercise price
and the quoted market price must be recorded as. compensation expense to be recognized over
the v.csti;lg period of the option. Options that are at-the-money or out-of-the-money on the

measurement date need not be expensed. Excluding non-employee directors, APB 25 required



employers to record compensation expenses on options granted to non-employees irrespective of

whether they were in-the-money or not on the date of grant.

3. The Stock Option Backdating Scheme at Comverse

25.  Prior to 1998, company-wide grants of stock options were made at different
times throughout the year, but Beginning in approximately 1998, they were made only during the
later part of the fiscal year. Grants made to smaller groups of employees, referred to as “one-off
grants,” were still made throughout the year. |

26. Comverse initiated its grant process through i_ts former CEO, who determined
‘the number of shares to be awarded and allotted them among the Company’s divisions
and subsidiaries. Each of the divisions and/or subsidiaries then prepared grant lists with
amounts for each grantee and the lists were consolidated and subsequently forwarded to the
Committee.

27. Comverse’s former CEO and, at times, its former CFO, selected the granf date
by looking back at Comverse’s historical stock prices and, with the benefit of hindsight,
“cherry-picking” a grant date on which the Company’s stock was trading at a relative low.

28. The Company’s former General Counsel thén prepared (or caused to be
prepared) and forwarded (or caused to be forwarded) unanimous written consents containing

- “as of” dates for the proposed stock option grant to the Compensation Committee for approval.
The ai)proved unanimous Iwritte_n consents containing the “as of” date falsely indicated that
corporate action sufficient to épprqve each grant had taken place on the “as of”” date. These
three former senior Comverse exécutives knew that no corporate action had taken place on
the “as of” date because, among other things, the Committee had not approved.the grant on
the “as of” date. Indeed, the Committee had not received or signed the unanimous written

‘consents on that date.



29.  The three former Comverse senior executives knew that the “as of” date
reflected in each unanimous written consent preceded the date on which the Committee had
acted on the option grant proposal. They also knew that the closing price of Comverse
common stock on the “as of” date was used as the exercise price of the options granted, and
that, consequently, the exercise prices of the backdated options were not at “fair market value”
- on the date when the Committee formally acted to approve such grants. By the tinie the
Committee did formally act, the backdated options were in-the-money. Pursuant to APB 25,
the in-the-money portion of thesé option grants should have been, but was not, recorded as a
compensation expense on Comverse’s books and records.

30. No written consent that was signed in connection with a stock option grant
between 1991 and 2002 identified the specific date on which any Committee member had signed
his or her name to the consent. No wfitten consent during that period identiﬁed the date on
which any stock option grant had officially béen acted upon by the Committee. The sole date
reflected on the Unanimous Written Consents was the “as of” date.

31.  Upon approval by the Committee, the Company entered the details of the stock
option awards into a computer tracking system called Equity Edge. Without seeking
appropriate authorizatipn, the three former Comverse senior executives, or others acting at their
direction, freduently.made changes to the grant list previously approved by the Committee and
- entered thesé impro.perly amended awards into Equity Edge.

32. Between fiscal years 1991 and 2001, Comverse made seven company-wide
grants of stock options, all of which were backdated to a date on which no corporate action was

taken to approve the grant. These company-wide grants are depicted below:
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;_71.3; e - 2192'_129796 $4.35 1,398,080  |$6,081,648
| ;11?;15997 2115215997 $0.50 2,126,982 $1,063,491
;12&2998 éﬁ;lgggg $4.46 9343372  [$4,1671,439.12
| ;?(‘-)%3998 ;?:,}_3;1998 $3.33 2,231,996 $7,432,546.68
| 325861999 ;ﬁ;g’gl”g $17.00 7,592,310 $129,069,270
éé-g%zooo ;‘726'_%%01 N/A 8,744,360 N/A
é(l)zggzom 561.3.'}2001 $4.72 9,446,40? $44,587,041.04

33. Between fiscal years 1991 and 2001, Comverse made at least twenty one-off

grants of stock options, all of which were backdated to a date on which no corporate action was

taken to approve the grant. The one-off grants are depicted below:

i SlEa= S T ELE
so63 2-2%261991 $1.77 1,275,000  |$2,256,750
gﬂ—)a%l g-ll.é;%l $0.84 1,156,800  |$971,712
3"1?7991 3-11'%991 $0.21 220,500 $46,305
2-22.2(-)1992 ;—52.;:3993 - 52.98 763,500 $2,275,230
.03y [sasy - [OLSS AT, |SAmas0
§f§61995 égffilggs $2.63 479,998 $1,262,394.74
5635 lsoe N/A a0 . [NiA
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| gg’gjggs é;“éf% ' N/A 138,000 N/A
1.22-1996
$6.13 %61616996 $0.83 815,994 $677,275.02
(2 grants) ’

é‘%ﬁ?}}f% é'1135é17997 $2.59 979,500 $2.536,905
$o-1997. -2 1ood NA 480,000  [N/A
S e |s3.08 2,580 §7,046.40
gilzt%lsggg 2'117,2{,1299-8 $2.94 384,000 $1,128,960
%5%‘_16%9_9 | 2"2162%999 $3.14 737,996  |$2,317,307.44
;:615%000 g;ﬁlg’w $9.00 271,600 $21,444,400
3;161_6%000 ;3‘113;2000 $1569 90,770 $1,424,181.30
e o §14.65 385600 (5,649,040

34. Comverse changed its options-granting practices in or around 2002, at which
~ point Comverse’s practice was to record a grant date only after receipt of signed unanimous
written consents from all Committee members.

4, The “Slush Fund”

35.  In approximately 1999, two former Comverse senior executives improperly
c_rea_ted a “slush fund” of backdated stock options, from which they later made option grants to
employées in circumvention of the proper stock option award process. These stock options
were held in an Equity Edge ﬁccount'called, “LM. Fanton” (a.k.a. “Phantom”), which was
later changed to “Fargo.” From 1999 until 2002, approximately 906,000 options were held in |

- the Phantom/Fargo account, of which approximately 187,000 were distributed.
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36. The sluéh fund account was funded with options from three company-wide
stock option grants. In 1999 and 2001, options were purportedly granted to fictitious employees
through the grant process. In the 2000 grant, a line item containing the number of options for the
“slush fund” was omitted from the grant list sent to the Compensa_tion Committee, but included

in the total number of stock optioné to be awarded on that list. Contrary to the shareholder-
approved options plans, approximately 100,000 unexercised options were also placed into the
Phanton/Fargo account, including those from terminated employees’ unexercised options.

37.  The Phantom/Fargo account was concealed from Comverse’s auditors. For
instance, at the direction of the Company’s former CFO, pages réferencing the account were
removed from the stock option grant documentation that the Company provided to its
independent auditors during their 2001 audit.

5. Comverse’s Materially Misleading Financials
And Disclosures Resulting from Its Options Practices

38.  Because it stated in its public filings that it accounted for its options during the
relévant period in conformity with APB 25, Comverse was required to record a compensation
expense in connection with the grants listed above over the four-year vesting périod of the
options. It did not do so. As a result of the fraudulent backdating and slush fund practices
that occurred between 1991 and 2002, Comverse materially understated its compensation
expense and matcrialiy overstated the Company’s reported net income and EPS for fiscal
years 1991 through the fiscal year ended January 31, 2006.

39.  Due to the misconduct of fhe three former Comverse senior executives,
Comverse publi'shed materially faise énd misleading financial :infonn'ation about its quarterly

and annual pre-tax earnings and net income in, among other things, its annual and quarterly
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reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q for fiscal years 1991 through 2006. Comverse’s annual

income overstatements are depicted below:

FYE 12/31/91 $2,294,877 417.75%
FYE 12/31/92 $799,397 13.60%] -
FYE 12/31/93 $1,409,319 10.78%
FYE 12/31/94 $535,484 4.01%
[FYE 12/31/95 $2,831,384 17.40%
FYE 12/31/96 $10,501,000 51.85%
FYE 12/31/97 $4,814,000 13.820%
Month Ending 1/31/1998 $285,000 (0.29%)
FYE 1/31/99 '$15,426,000] 14.13%)|
FYE 1/31/00 $24.,639,000 16.97%
FYE 1/31/01 $74,195,000 38.39%
FYE 1/31/02 $48,942,000 406.63%
FYE 1/31/03 $80,150,000 (39.29%)
FYE 1/31/04 $4,542,000 112.48%
FYE 1/31/05 $2,939,000 3.66%
FYE 1/31/06 $3,709,000 5.05%

40. Comverse also published (or incor_porated by reference) materially false and

| misleading financial information about its quarterly and annual pre-tax earnings and net income
in registration statements on Forms S-3 and S-4 for various offerings between fiscal years 1991
and 2002.

41.  Through the misconduct bf its three former executives, Comverse knew or was
reckless in not knowing that the net income and e;amings ﬁgures reported in these documents
was materially misleading as a result of its improper options-granting practices.

42.  Additionally, from ﬁscai years 1996 through 2002, in its annual reports on Fﬁrm
10-K, Comverse, at the direction of the three former Comverse senior executives, made the
following statements (in a footnote to its financial statements) regarding its option grants and

its accounting for stock options:
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The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting For Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations in
accounting for its option plans. Accordingly, as all options have been
granted at exercise prices equal to fair market value on the date of grant, no
compensation expense has been recognized by the Company in connection
with its stock-based compensation plans.

Similarly, Corﬁverse’s Form 10-K for 1991 affirmatively represented that Comverse had granted
incentive stock options at exercise prices equal to fair market. value on the date of grant. The
statements in each of the respected Forms 10-K mentioned above were materially false and
misleading because Comverse had granted stock optioﬁs at pricc_es that were below fair market
value on the date of grant. For each grant, the corporate action necessary to formally approve
stock option grants was taken after the “as of” date. As alleged previously, APB 25 required
Comverse to record compensation expense for options that were in-the-money on the date of

grant.
43. Comverse sent shareholders proxy statements in connection with its annual

shareholder meetings énd periodically for special shareholder meetings during the period 1991
through 2002. Each proxy statement sent to shareholders during this period contained materially
false and misleading disclosures or omitted material information about Comverse’s stock option
practices.

;14. Each proxy statement made false representations and/or was materially
misleéding in that it: (1) falsely represented in the “Executive Compensation” section that
options that had been granted to the Company’s top executives in the prior fiscal year had an
exercise pricé that was “equal to the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of
grant;” (2) failed to disclose that the exercise price of incentive stock options had been granted at
less than 100% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant;. 3) failed.to
disclose that the Company, at the direction of the three former Comverse senior executives,
foutinely changed granf recipients and grant awarcis aﬁer approval of the grant by the

‘Committee; (4) failed to disclose that in some instances awards of options had been made to
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individuals who were not erﬂployed by the Company at fhe time of the award; and-(S) failed to
disclose that in certain instances awards of options had been made to fictitious employees.

45. By virtue of this stock options backdating scheme, Comverse’s books and
records falsely and inaccurately reflected, among other things, the compensation and income tax
expense associated with the Company’s grants of stock optioﬁs to its employees, the Company’s
net income and EPS, and its general financial condition. Comverse also faﬂed to maintain a
system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide assurances that its stock option
grants were recorded as necessary to permit the proper preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP.

B. Comverse’s Fraudulent Accounting Scheme

| 46. Frorﬁ at least 1995 to October 2003, Comverse, through its senior-management
at that time, also engaged in various-fraudulent accounting practices to smooth earnings and
present a false financial picture to investors and the public. These fraudulent practices
included (1) the improper build up and subsequent release of reserves to improperly boost
income when necessary to meet earnings targets and decrease income when necessary to
smooth earnings; (2) the improper reclassification of expenses to manipulate certain
performance metrics; and (3) thg: manipulation of sales backlog data.

47.  The manipulation of earnings allowed Comverse to meet or exceed ‘Wall Street
analyst consensus earnings estimates in every quarter between 1996 and the fifst quarter of .2001.
As a result of the accounting’ ﬁaud, Comverse understated its pre-tax income in fiscal years
1996 through 1999, overstated its pre-tax income in fiscal years 2000 to 2003, and made

materially false and misleading disclosures about its operating margins and sales backlog.
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L Comverse’s Improper Reserves Practices

48. At the end of each fiscal quarter between fiscal 1996 and at least 2002, in
preparation for reporti_ng the consolidated financial results for Comverse and its subsidiaries,
reserve analyses were prepared. Two former Comverse senior executives typically reviewed
these analyses with the intent of meeting specific EPS targets.

49. It was a long-standing practice at Comverse to improperly establish, maintain, or
release reserves as necessary to meet its financial objectives. Comverse engaged in this
activity,. wh'_ich did not conform with GAAP, in part to build al stockpile of reserves to reduce
iﬁcome, thereby smoothing earnings and in the event an earnings boost was needed in the future
when the Company was underperforming or to close the gap betweeﬁ Comverse’s actual and
projected earnings.

50. Inorder to meet EPS targets, two former Comverse senior executives typicallly
directed that top-;lown édjustments to specific reserve.s be made at Comverse and at several of
its maiq operating subsidiaries, including Verint and Ulticom. The adjustments were made
with little or no supporting documentation and improperly created, increased, or released excess
reserves.

51.  Such adj ustments; for the most part, were unrelated to the underlying liability for
which any reservé.had initially been created and were not in conformity with GAAP, |
including Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies
(“SFAS 57), at { 8, and Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes
(‘fAPB 207), at 913  &11<1 36-38. |

52. Comverse used an Elxcel.spreadsheet to monitor its excess reser?es. The
spreadsheet listed for each reserve (1) the resérve Balance (in one column)-, (i1) the amount of the

balance that was in excess and thus available for release (in an adjacent column), and in some
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instances, a third column reflecting the amount of excess that could be taken back into income.
The formats varied, but the excess améunts were typically referred to as “real reserves,” or as
“take back.”

53.  These excess reserve amqunts, essentially “reserves for generai contingencies” or
for “[g]eneral or unspecified business risks,” were not in conformity with GAAP, including
SFASS at §14.

54. Between 1996 and 2002, apptoximately forty reserve accounts were improperly
inflated and later improperly released into income to achieve quarterly results. The largest
releases typically ocfcurred in the fourth quarter, but they also occurred throughout the year in the
other quarters. -

55. In nearly every quarter from 2000 to 2002, Comverse improperly'relcased into
income excess reserves, such as agent commissions, royalties, and accrued payables. As a
result, Comverse artificially inflated its income in those reporting periods.

56.  In 2000, two former Comverse senior executives directed that a portion of the
excess reserves be transferred from Comverse’s U.S. operating division, CNS, to CNS’s Israeli
operating division (“CNS-Israel“). CNS-Israel subsequently released the excess reserves,
_there;lly inflating its operating income and enabling it to meet its operating targets. This resulted
in an improper boqst of -approxifnately $10 million to Comverse’s reported pre-tax inc.ome.

57;'. - In 2003 and 2004, Comverse improperly released another $34.7 million and
'$24.7 million, respectively, of excess reserves into income, thereby overstating its net income
and smoothing its earnings during both reporting periods.

58.  Comverse’s improper releases of excess reserves did not conform with the

requirements of GAAP. Specifically, its improper releases of excess reserves to manage
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earnings did not conform with FASB Concepts Statement No. 6, Elements of Financial
‘Statements (“CON 67), at § 42, which requires that, once established, a reserve can be

r eléased only upon the occurrence of a triggering event, such as when a company determines
the underlying liability is no longer pro_bable, or the estimate of the liability has decreased.

2. Expense Reclassification at Comverse

59. Rather than presenting Comver_se’s true operating performance to the market — as
a company with rapid growth but with fluctuating operating performance metrics — two former
Comverse senior executives instead manipulated certain expenses to projet;,t a pattern of .
performance metrics that were consistent and measured. In this rcg-ard, from at least the'ﬁrét
quarter of fiscal year 1998 through the quarter ended October 31, 2003, the Company
manipulated its financial statements by making improper and unsupported expense
| r_eclassiﬁcatibns. Generally, expenses were shifted between selling, general and administrative
(“SG&A”), cost of goods sold (“COGS”), and research and development (“R&D”). These
improper reclassiﬁcatibn# allowed Comverse to manipulate its gross profit margins and present
better operating performance metrics than what it had actuallf realized.
60. Two former Co.mverse.senior executives routinely directed the reclassifications of
cer-tain expenses from one category to another, at times, without adequate support, and in some
: czis_es, without ';any support at all for these adjustments. Such acij ustmenfs were not in

conformity with GAAP.

3. Underrepoi'ting of Sales Backlog Figures at Comverse

61. From 1998 to 2002, Comverse also sought to improperly portray its growth by
underreporting its sales backlog figures, which consisted of the total value of sales orders to be
filled in the next 12 months. Two former Comverse senior executives were concerned about

“ the size of the sales backlog because they believed that the market would not react.
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favorably to excessively fast growth in the telecom industry, of which Comverse was a part.
They were also concerned that increases in sales backlog at a greater rate than increases in
revenue could call into quesiion the Company’s ability to sﬁstain such growth in the future.

62. To address these concerns, Comverse, through twlo former senior executives,
manipulated Comverse’s sales backlog figures by underreporting the sales backlog numbers,
which were included in the Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) section of the
Company’s Forms 10-K, in earnings releases, and in quarterly conference calls with analysts.

63. In order to track the sales backlog. figures, a former senior Comverse executive
maintaiﬁed a schedule containing an unlabeled column and a column labeled “real.” The “real”
column represented the correct or actual amounts of séles backlog, while the unlabeled column
contained the incorrect amounts reported to the public.

| 64. From at least the third quarter of 2000 until the second quarter of 2002, a senior
Comverse executive placed tick marks. on the backlog report next to items to exclude from the
numbers to be reported to the public. |

65.  Innine of the eleven quarters between the fourth quarter of 1998 and the second
quarter of 2001, Comverse underreported its sales backlog figures in varying amounts, from a
low of $42 million in 2001 to a high of .$203 million in 1999 (a range of 19% to 90%)).

4. Comverse’s Materially Misleading Financials
And Disclosures Resulting from Its Financial Scheme

66. Due to the misconduct related to this finar_lcial scheme, Comverse publishéd
materially false 'an& misleading financial information about its quarterly and annual pre-tax
eanlings; net income, operating income, liabilities, cost of goods sold, research and development
-éxﬁense, and sales order backlog in, among othGr tﬁings, its annual and quarterly reports on |

Forms 10-K and. 10-Q for fiscal years 1995 through at least 2005.
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67. Through the actions of its senior execulgives at that time, as (ietailed herein,
_ Comyerse filed numerous registration statements with the Commission on Forms S-3 and S-4.1n
connection with various securities and debt offerings by the company, including Verint and
Ulticom’s IPO and follow-on stock offcrings. These registration statements were materially
false and misleading because they incorporated by reference materially false and misleading
financial statements, as well as materially false and misleading disclosures from Comverse’s
annual and quarterly reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q. Among other things, the documents
that were incorporated by reference contained misstatéments regarding quarterly and annual
pre-tax earnings, net income, operating income, liabilities, cost of goods sold, research and
- development expense, and sales order backlog.
68. Comverse also filed numerous current reports with the Commission on Form 8-
K Th.ese filings wére materially false and misleading as they included the materially false and
misleading financial data previously described.
69.  Because the impact of the improper reserve and accrual practices remained on the
Company’s books and records for several fiscal periods, Comverse materially misstated its
' quarterly and annual pre-tax earnings, net income, operating income, liabilities, cost of goods
sold, research and development expense, and sales order backlog through Fiscal Year 2002.
Comverse’s annual and quarterly reports on Forms 10-K and 10-Q for fiscal years 2003 and
F 2004, and the first three quarters of 2005 contained materially false and misleading financial
-statements for this reason, and also because of the inclusion of materially false and misleading
.ﬁnancial. statements from prior fiscal periods.
- 70.  Through the misconduct of fOlTIlCI; Comverse sehior executives, as detailed

herein, Comverse knew or was reckless in not knowing that certain expenses, liabilities, net
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income, and EPS reported in such documents were materially misleading as a result of
improper accounting practices at the Company.

71. By virtue of Comverse’s accounﬁhg fraud, the Company’s books and records
falsely and inaccurately reflected, among other things, certain expenses, liabilities, net income,
EPS, and its general financial condition. Excluding the effects of the financial frauds at

Comverse’s subsidiaries, Ulticom, Starhome, and Verint, the anticipated effect of Comverse’s

accounting fraud on its reported pre-tax income is depicted below. -

o !
FYE 12/31/96 ($1,802,000) (5.54%)
FYE 12/31/97 ($1,466,000)| (3.57%)
Month Ending 1/31/1998 ($20,766,000) 26.74%
FYE 1/31/99 ($35,581,000)| (22.21%)
FYE 1/31/00 $7,450,000] 4.59%
FYE 1/31/01 $21,317,000 8.66%
FYE 1/31/02 ($18,579,000) (23.35%)
FYE 1/31/03 $24,122,000 (16.30%)
FYE 1/31/04 $15,940,000 (216.58%)
FYE 1/31/05 ($2,482,000) (2.90%)
FYE 1/31/06 $1,076,000 1.42%)

Additionally, through the misconduct of its executives at thaf time, Comverse failed to
maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient t6 provide assurances tﬁat reserves,
expenses, net income and EPS were recorded as necessary to permit the proper preparation of
financial statements in conformity with GAAP.

FIRST CLAIM
Violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)

72.  The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation

contained herein.
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73. Comverse, directly or indirectiy, knowingly, recklessly, or negligently, in the
" offer or sale of Comverse securities, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce, or by use of the mails, has: (a) employed devices,
schemes, or értiﬁces to. defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statéments
of material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary in ordér to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged
in transactions, prdcticcs, or courses of business which operated or would have operated as a
fraud or deceit upon purchasers of Comverse securities.

74. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Comverse violated Securities Act
Section 17(a) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)].

SECOND CLAIM

Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b)
and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 Thereunder

75.  The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation
contained herein.

76. Comve;se, directly or indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of interstate
commerce, or of the mails, or of a facility of a natioﬁal securities exchange, icnowingly or
recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes, or artifices té defraud; (b) made untrue statements of
a material fact or omittgd to state a matertal fact? necessary in order to make the statements
méde, in light of the circﬁmstances under. which they were made, not misleading; or (¢) engaged
in acts, transactions, practices, lor courses of business which Qperatéd or would operate as a fraud
or deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities.

77. Ey engaging in the conduct alleged above, Comverse violated‘ Exchange Act

Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j (b)] and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 [17 CFR § 240.10b-5].
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THIRD CLAIM
Violations of Exchange Act Section 14(a)
and Exchange Act Rule 14a-9 Thereunder

'?8.. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation
contained herein.

79. Comverse directly or indirectly, by the use of the mails or by any means or
instrumentality of interstate commerce or of any .facility of a national securities exchange or
bthemrise, knowingly, recklessly, or negligently, solicited by means of a proxy statement, form
of proxy, notice of meeting or other communication, written or oral, containing statements
which, at the‘ time and in light of the circumstances under which they were made, were
false and misicading with respect to material facts, or omitted to state material facts necessary
in order to make the statements therein not false or misleading or necessary to correct
' statements in earlier communications with respect to the soﬁcitation of the proxy for the same
meeting or subject mﬁtter which was false or misleading.

80. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Comverse violated Exchange Act
Section 14(a) [15 U.S.C. § 78n(a)] and Exchange Act Rule 14a-9 [17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-9].

B

- FOURTH CLAIM
Violations of Exchange Act Section 13(a)
and Exchange Act Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, and 13a-13 Thereunder

-

81. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation
contained herein.

82. | Section' 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Rules 13a-1, 13a- |
11, and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, and 240.13a-13] thereunder, require
1ssuers of registered secuﬁties to file with the Commission factually accurate annual and |
quarterly reports. Exchange Act Rule 12b-20 [17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-20] further provides that, in

addition to the information expressly required to be included in a statement or report, there
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shall be added such further material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the
required statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made not
misleading.

83. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, Comverse violated Section 13(a) of
the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(a)] and Exchange Act Rules 12b-20, 13a|-1, 13a—1I1, and
13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, and 240.13a-13].

_ FIFTH CLAIM o _
Violations of Exchange Act Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B)

84. The Commission realleges and incorporates by reference each and every allegation
contained herein. |

85.  Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A)] requires
issuers to make and keep books, records, and accounts which, in réasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of its assets. Sectjon 13(b)(2)(B) of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §'78m(b)(2)(Bl)] requires issuers to devise and maintain a system of
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
and to maintain the accountability of assets. |

86. By engaging in the conduct alleged above, defendant Comverse y-iolated Exchange
Act Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78m@)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)].

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

87. WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully prays that this Court permanently
enjoin defendant Comverse from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §
77q(a)], Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 14(a) of the Exchange Act [15

U.S.C. §§ 78i(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(2)(B), and 78n(a)] and Exchange Act Rules
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10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11, 13a-13, and 14a-9 [17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20,

240.13a-1, 240.13a-11, 240.13a-13, and 240.14a-9].

Dated: June 8, 2009
Washington, DC

26

Respectfully)s tted,

Suzanne J. Romajas((éR-453 1)
Antonia Chion (AC-9522)
Daniel Chaudoin

Noel Gittens

Pamela H. Kesner

Kevin Guerrero

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
100 F Street, NE

Washington, DC 20549-4030

Tel: 202-551-4473 (Romajas)

Fax: 202-772-9245 (Romajas)

E-mail: RomajasS@sec.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff



